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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 


SOUTHERN DIVISION 

~';'~CTC: 

ROG~atR ) 
Plaintiff ) 
ProSe ) 

v. ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 
) 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE ) CV-l0-AR-1271-S 
UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA; CAROL GARRISON, ) 

individually and in her official UAB capacity; ) IDKY UI!:MAND 

SHIRLEY SALLOWAY KAHN, individually and ) 

in her official UAB capacity; DALE TURNBOUGH, ) 

individually and in her official UAB capacity; ) 

PAM POWELL, individually and in her official ) 

UAB capacity; GARY MANS, individually and in his ) 

official UAB capacity; CHERYL E.H. LOCKE, ) 

individually and in her official UAB capacity; ANITA ) 

BONASERA, individually and in her official UAB ) 

capacity; THE BIRMINGHAM POLICE ) 

DEPARTMENT; FICTITIOUS DEFENDANTS ) 

A, B, C .• . ) 

Defendants 

INTRODUCTION 

I. Plaintiff Roger Shuler brings this action for declaratory judgment, equitable relief, and 

money damages, instituted to secure the protection of and to redress unlawful actions against 

him. The suit is brought to secure the protection of and to redress the deprivation of rights 

secured by Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S. Code 2000, et seq; 

42 U.S. Code 1985,42 U.S. Code 1986, the Fourteenth Amendment through 42 U.S. Code 

1983, Ex Parte Young (209 u.s. 123, 1908), the Age Discrimination in Employment Act 

(ADEA) of 1967, and the laws of the State of Alabama. The plaintiff seeks compensatory 

and punitive damages and requests a jury trial. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 


2. 	 The unlawful employment actions alleged herein below were committed by the defendants 

within Jefferson County, Alabama. Plaintiff is a resident of Shelby County, Alabama. 

Jurisdiction in this Court is conferred by 28 U.S.C. 1331, 1343. Venue is proper in this court 

pursuant to 28 U.S.c. 1391 and 42 U.S. 2000. 

PARTIES 

3. 	 Plaintiff Roger Shuler ("Shuler" or "plaintiff") is a male citizen of the United States, over the 

age ofnineteen years, and at all times pertinent to the matters alleged herein, a resident of the 

State ofAlabama. Shuler is a former employee of the defendant. 

4. 	 Defendant The Board of Trustees ofthe University of Alabama ("the university" or 

"defendant") was the plaintiff s employer during the time period pertinent to this lawsuit. 

The defendant practiced its business and employed the plaintiff at one of its facilities located 

in Birmingham, Alabama, in the Northern District ofAlabama. At all times pertinent to this 

action, the defendant employed more than fifteen (15) people and is thus an "employer" for 

Title VII purposes. 

5. 	 Defendant Carol Garrison ("Garrison") at all times material to this action was President of 

the University ofAlabama at Birmingham ("UAB"). Garrison was a state actor for purposes 

of42 U .S.c. 1983, 42 U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Garrison is sued individually 

pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment as further set 

out herein. Upon information and belief, Garrison is a female citizen of the United States 

over the age of nineteen (19) years and is a resident citizen of the State of Alabama. 
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6. 	 Defendant Shirley Salloway Kahn ("Kahn") at all times material to this action was Vice 

President for Development, Alumni, and External Relations at UAR Kahn was a state actor 

for purposes of 42 U.S.C. 1983,42 U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Kahn is sued 

individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment 

as further set out herein. Upon information and belief, Kahn is a female citizen ofthe United 

States over the age of nineteen (19) years and is a resident citizen of the State of Alabama. 

7. 	 Defendant Dale Turnbough ("Turnbough") at all times material to this action was Associate 

Vice President for Public Relations and Marketing at UAR Turnbough was a state actor for 

purposes of 42 U.S.c. 1983,42 U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.c. 1986. Turnbough is sued 

individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment 

as further set out herein. Upon information and belief, Turnbough is a female citizen of the 

United States over the age ofnineteen (19) years and is a resident citizen ofthe State of 

Alabama. 

8. 	 Defendant Pam Powell ("Powell") at all times material to this action was Director of the 

Office of Periodicals at UAB. Powell was a state actor for purposes of 42 U.S.c. 1983,42 

U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Powell is sued individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 

1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment as further set out herein. Upon information 

and belief, Powell is a female citizen ofthe United States over the age of nineteen (19) years 

and is a resident citizen of the State of Alabama. 

9. 	 Defendant Gary Mans ("Mans") at all times material to this action was Director ofMedia 

Relations at UAR Mans was a state actor for purposes of42 U.S.C. 1983,42 U.S.C. 1985, 

and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Mans is sued individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 1986 for 

violations of the Fourteenth Amendment as further set out herein. Upon information and 
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belief, Mans is a male citizen of the United States over the age of nineteen (19) years and 

was a resident citizen of the State of Alabama at all times material to this action. 

10. Defendant Cheryl E.H. Locke ("Locke") at all times material to this action was Chief Human 

Resources Officer at UAB. Locke was a state actor for purposes of 42 U.S.C. 1983,42 

U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Locke is sued individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 

1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment as further set out herein. Upon information 

and belief, Locke is a female citizen of the United States over the age of nineteen (19) years 

and was a resident citizen of the State of Alabama at all times material to this action. 

11. Defendant Anita Bonasera ("Bonasera") at all times material to this action was Director of 

Employee Relations at UAB. Bonasera was a state actor for purposes of 42 U.S.C. 1983,42 

U.S.C. 1985, and 42 U.S.C. 1986. Bonasera is sued individually pursuant to 1983, 1985, and 

1986 for violations of the Fourteenth Amendment as further set out herein. Upon information 

and belief, Bonasera is a female citizen of the United States over the age of nineteen (19) 

years and is a resident citizen of the State ofAlabama. 

12. Defendant Birmingham Police Department is an agency responsible for law enforcement in 

the City of Birmingham, Alabama. Based on information and belief, the UAB Police 

Department acts as a precinct of the Birmingham Police Department. 

13. Fictitious Defendants A, B, C ... are real persons against whom Plaintiff Shuler believes he 

has a cause of action. These individuals cannot be identified at this time, but plaintiff expects 

to be able to substitute their real names once they are revealed in the discovery process. 

ADMINISTRATIVE PREREQUISITES 

14. The plaintiff has satisfied all administrative prerequisites for filing suit under Title VII. 
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15. Plaintiff timely filed his charges of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission ("EEOC") against the university within 180 days of the occurrence ofeach last 

discriminatory act. 

16. The EEOC failed to file a finding on plaintiff's complaint within the 180 days allowed by 

law. Plaintiff has requested a right-to-sue letter from the EEOC, but so far, has received no 

reply. Under federal law, plaintiff is free to proceed with the instant lawsuit. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

17. Roger Shuler was hired at UAB in March 1989 and worked there until his termination on 

May 19,2008. Before accepting a position at UAB, Shuler earned a bachelor's degree from 

the University ofMissouri School ofJournalism and worked 11 years for the Birmingham 

Post-Herald. He has worked as a freelance writer/reporter for the Associated Press and has 

had articles published in numerous national publications. In all, Shuler has more than 30 

years of professional journalism experience. 

18. Throughout his 19 years at UAB, Shuler received good to excellent performance reviews and 

had no disciplinary actions under university poticy. 

19. Throughout his 19 years at UAB, Shuler worked with or for Pam Powell. From 1989 to 1997, 

Shuler served as assistant editor of the UAB Report, the university's faculty/staff newspaper. 

During that time, Powell frequently sought him out to write articles for UAB Magazine, the 

university'S flagship alumni magazine. Shuler always accepted these assignments, which 

were on top of his regular duties and for which he received no pay. 

20. In 1997, Powell hired Shuler as an editor in the UAB Office of Periodicals, where she served 

as director. Shuler served as managing editor of publications for various schools within 
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UAB, including the School of Medicine, School of Business, School ofNursing, School of 

Education, School of Public Health, and more. At various times, Shuler wrote articles for 

almost all of the some 20 publications produced by the office. He also served as assistant 

editor for UAB Magazine and was designated by Powell as one ofthe office's primary editors 

and proofreaders because ofhis strengths in those areas. At all times material to this action, 

Powell answered to Dale Turnbough (associate vice president), who answered to Shirley 

Salloway Kahn (vice president), who answered to Carol Garrison (president), who answered 

to the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama. 

21. Shulers' duties included heavy writing, editing, proofreading, and project management, 

which included client relations, scheduling, planning, and assistance with coordination ofart 

direction, production, billing, delivery, and more. Along with other editors in the office, 

Shuler was responsible for generating story ideas for all UAB Publications. Shuler was told 

to keep a running list of possible stories-touching on any academic subject at U AB-and 

the ideas were presented at some 10-12 planning meetings throughout the year. All editors 

were encouraged to make frequent use of the World Wide Web, not only for writing and 

editing current stories but for researching future story ideas and keeping abreast ofcurrent 

events. 

22. During roughly the last two years of Shuler's employment at UAB, Powell developed an 

emphasis on "new media," particularly blogs, video, audio, slideshows, and social 

networking. All editors were encouraged to learn how these new communication formats 

worked and to present ideas that might be attractive for the office's clients in the various 

UAB schools and departments. 
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23. When Shuler began working in the Office of Periodicals, it had four staff members and 

roughly six publications. When Shuler was terminated, the office had grown to about 12 staff 

members and some 20 publications. 

24. In January 2001, Shuler received notice that he was being sued by a neighbor, Mike 

McGarity. After buying a house next door to Roger and Carol Shuler ("the Shulers") in 

December 1998, McGarity immediately began violating their property rights. Perhaps this is 

partly explained by the fact that-as the Shulers' later discovered-McGarity has an 

extensive criminal record. He has at least eight convictions in his background, including one 

for a sex-related offense and one for a violence-related offense. 

25. Before McGarity had even fully moved in, he built a fence on the Shulers' property, taking 

up almost 400 square feet of their property. Apparently angered because he was forced to 

move the fence, McGarity began to retaliate against the Shulers. McGarity (and his family 

members and guests) proceeded to trespass frequently on the Shulers' property-and the 

Shulers experienced numerous instances ofvandalism. Multiple verbal warnings and a 

written warning from an attorney failed to solve the trespassing problem. On one occasion, 

Mike McGarity told Roger Shuler, "We're going to keep on coming" and "I'm going to sue 

you for harassment." Concerned about their property rights and possible liability issues, the 

Shulers visited the Shelby County District Attorney's Office. A lawyer there prepared a 

complaint against McGarity for criminal trespass (third degree), and Roger Shuler ("Shuler") 

signed it in the presence ofmagistrate Mary Harris. Carol Shuler, Roger's wife, did not sign 

it because there was no space for a second signature. 

26. McGarity pleaded not guilty, and a bench trial was held in Shelby County District Court in 

spring 2000. According to a transcript of the trial, McGarity confessed to the crime. But 
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Judge Ron Jackson, after giving McGarity a stern warning and indicating he believed the 

Shulers' story, ordered an acquittaL 

27. Attorney William E. Swatek, who has a 30-year history of unethical conduct with the 

Alabama State Bar, filed the lawsuit on McGarity's behalf against Roger Shuler for 

malicious prosecution and false imprisonment, seeking $25,000 in damages. McGarity later 

dropped the false imprisonment claim, but added a claim for conversion. 

28. McGarity's lawsuit, by law, had to be dismissed (summary judgment) on three occasions. 

But judges in Shelby County unlawfully allowed the case to go to trial in 2004, and with 

post-judgment motions and appeals, the case dragged into 2007---costing the Shulers' tens of 

thousands of dollars and virtually wiping out their lives' savings. 

29. Roger Shuler told his closest coworkers at DAB about the lawsuit ordeal, and Pam Powell 

took a special interest. She frequently asked Shuler about the situation, expressed her 

sympathy, and even encouraged him on several occasions to write about the experience. 

30. Shuler enjoyed a good relationship with Powell for 18 Y:z of his 19 years at DAB. Over the 

last six months of Shuler's employment, Powell initiated a harassment campaign against 

Shuler that ended in his termination. 

31. Sometime in 2007-Shuler is not certain of the date but believes it was in the spring

Powell held individual meetings with staff members in Periodicals and told them she planned 

to retire in two or three years and planned to push for the promotion ofMatt Windsor as her 

successor. Shuler was almost 51 at the time, and Windsor was about 31, with roughly one

third of Shuler's professional experience in journalism. Shuler did not complain about 

Powell's plans for a couple ofreasons: (1) He thought it probably would not be her decision 
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to make; (2) He thought DAB probably would hire an external candidate when the time 

came. 

32. In June 2007, partly because ofPowell's encouragement, Shuler started a blog called Legal 

Schnauzer, writing about his experiences in the Shelby County case, plus other justice-related 

issues. The blog heavily focused on apparent political prosecutions by the George W. Bush 

Justice Department, especially the Don Siegelman case in Alabama and the Paul Minor case 

in Mississippi. Shuler also was partly inspired by two ofhis coworkers-Doug Gillett and 

Stanley Holditch-who had been blogging for some time. 

33. In July 2007, the Shulers started hearing from debt collectors-Pennsylvania-based NCO and 

Birmingham-based Ingram & Associates-about a debt Roger Shuler allegedly owed 

American Express. Because of this, Shuler began reporting about debt-collection issues on 

his blog. 

34. In fall 2007, the Shulers received a writ of execution from the Shelby County Sheriffs 

Office, threatening seizure of their cars and home to satisfY a judgment of$I,525 in the 

McGarity lawsuit. William E. Swatek had made no effort to collect the debt over the three

plus years since it was entered in summer 2004. But after Shuler started writing about justice 

and debt-collection issues on his b]og, Swatek suddenly became interested in collection. 

35. In December 2007, Shuler's relationship with Pam Powell began to deteriorate. When one of 

Shuler's projects fell behind schedule because of delays on the client's end (Office of Alumni 

Affairs), Powell blamed Shuler and moved the project to Doug Gillett, a younger coworker. 

36. Powell told Shuler that she had received complaints about Shuler's performance over the 

years from School of Medicine Dean Will Deal and School ofNursing Dean Doreen Harper. 

The alleged complaint from Deal dated back roughly six years, and Powell had never 
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mentioned it previously. The alleged complaint from Harper was nonsensical because Shuler 

had never managed a project under her. Neither Deal nor Harper had ever expressed a 

concern to Shuler directly. Roughly three months before telling Shuler of these complaints, 

Powell had given Shuler a positive performance review and mentioned no such concerns. 

37. Powell told Shuler that Becky Watson, director of the Office ofAlumni Affairs, had been 

wanting to have him removed from her project as early as spring 2007. Shuler went into his 

e-mail files and found a message from Becky Watson after the spring 2007 issue had come 

out. Watson said she thought it was the best issue ever of UAB Alumni, that she appreciated 

Shuler's hard work, and looked forward to working with him in the future. 

38. Powell informed Shuler in writing that his performance would be judged on what might be 

called a "client happiness" model. If Shuler's clients were happy, regardless of his 

performance on objective criteria, Shuler was fme. If Shuler's clients were unhappy, 

regardless of his performance on objective criteria, Shuler was in danger of being disciplined 

or losing his job. Shuler asked several of his fellow editors if they had received such 

communication from Powell, and they said no. 

39. Alarmed that he was being held to a different standard from coworkers, Shuler wrote an e

mail to Powell voicing his concerns. He included portions of the e-mail from Becky Watson, 

showing that Powell's assertions regarding Shuler's performance were false. 

40. In February and March 2008, Shuler thought about going to Powell's superior, Dale 

Turnbough, with his concerns. Shuler was particularly alarmed because it appeared that he 

was being harassed due to Powell's desires to promote a younger coworker in the future. 

Turnbough was away from work for roughly a month because of surgery, so Shuler decided 

to hold off on going to her, hoping the situation with Powell would get better. 
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41. On Tuesday, April 15, 2008, Shuler received an anonymous comment on his blog, stating 

that it looked like he had been blogging at work and his employer, VAB, needed to know 

about it. The comment was to a post published the previous day (Monday, April 14), on 

which Shuler had taken a vacation day. Shuler was not blogging at work on that day-or any 

other day. Shuler also had not identified himself on the blog as a VAB employee and had not 

written about VAB issues. The blog focused on justice-related topics and other matters of 

public concern. But someone went to the trouble to find out where Shuler worked and then 

threatened to relay false information to Shuler's employer. 

42. On the very day in question, April 15, Shuler returned from his vacation day to find an e-mail 

from Powell, claiming he had not handled his vacation request and recent timekeeping duties 

properly. Shuler responded to Powell that he had not handled his vacation request any 

differently than he had on any number ofother occasions, but that he would adjust future 

requests according to her instructions. Shuler explained that he had not violated policy 

regarding timekeeping but simply had missed a day or two due to vacation, a late 

appointment one day on campus, etc. Shuler believes he also stated that coworkers had been 

known to go whole weeks, even months, without updating their timekeeping and that Shuler 

was one of the most reliable members of the office about filling out these forms. 

43. Early that afternoon, Powell called Shuler into her office, and with departmental human

resources rep Janice Ward present, informed Shuler that he was receiving an oral warning 

regarding the vacation-request and timekeeping issues. Shuler was stunned, for two reasons: 

(I) The vacation-request issue already had been resolved via e-mail; (2) The timekeeping 

charge simply was not based on fact. Slightly raising the pitch of his voice in a disbelieving 

manner, Shuler said, "Are you serious?" when informed of what was taking place. Shuler 
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then told Powell that he had quietly put up with her harassment for several months, but he 

was no longer going to be quiet about it. Shuler told Powell that he felt she was harassing 

him because ofher plans to promote a much younger coworker. Powell promptly called an 

end to the meeting. 

44. Later that afternoon, Powell called Shuler into another meeting, again with Ward (and now a 

representative from the main HR office) and informed him that he was receiving a written 

warning. The warning claimed that Shuler had raised his voice, acted in a belligerent and 

unprofessional manner, and had threatened Powell. Shuler immediately disputed the charges 

and was told to go home for the day. 

45. Feeling he could no longer let Powell's harassment continue, Shuler arranged a meeting with 

Turnbough. They met (along with a representative from the main VAB HR office) on or 

about April 23, and Shuler told Turnbough about Powell's plans to push for the promotion of 

Matt Windsor, which appeared to be news to Turnbough. In fact, Turnbough acknowledged 

that it would not be Powell's decision. Shuler also said he was concerned that he was being 

harassed because ofhis age, that Powell could see him as an impediment to her plans to 

promote Windsor and was trying to force Shuler out. Shuler even told Turnbough about his 

blog and asked if that was the source of his sudden problems on the job. Turnbough scoffed 

at that notion, assured Shuler that his blog was not a problem, and indicated that she would 

try to resolve the problem with Powell. Immediately after the meeting with Turnbough, 

Shuler went to VAB Employee Relations and filed a formal grievance against Powell and 

disputed the allegations in her written warning. 
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46. Shuler's grievance was assigned to Bobby Barnes in the VAB Employee Relations Office. 

Barnes took a statement from Shuler and told him that he would take a statement from 

Powell and then conduct an assisted mediation in an effort to resolve the issue. 

47. On May 7, 2008, Shuler went to Barnes' office to ask about the status of the grievance 

process. Barnes said that Powell had refused to participate in the mediation process, even 

though VAB policy says it is required. Barnes then said that Anita Bonasera, director of 

Employee Relations, wanted to meet with Shuler. When Shuler went to Bonasera's office, 

she promptly called Powell, Janice Ward, and an HR rep into the office and informed Shuler 

that his computer usage was being investigated and he was being placed on administrative 

leave, per copy of a letter signed by Powell. This came roughly two weeks after Shuler had 

filed a formal grievance against Powell. Shuler was told to turn over his ID badge and office 

key and was not allowed to return to his desk to gather his personal belongings. No one at the 

meeting gave Shuler anything in writing about the allegations against him, but the general 

claim seemed to be that he had used his university computer for non work-related activity 

connected to his blog. Bonasera said Shuler was free to respond to the charges in writing

even though Shuler had no clear information about what the charges were. The deadline for 

Shuler to respond to the charges in writing was May 12,2008. 

48. One or two working days after the administrative-leave meeting, Shuler had several 

questions about the process and decided to call Bonasera. For one, Shuler wanted to know 

who had made the determination that the actions on his computer were non work-related 

activity (NWR). Bonasera said it was Pam Powell. Shuler explained that this so-called NWR 

actually was story-idea research he was required to do for his job--and parts of it were an 

effort to understand various forms of"new media," as Powell had asked him, and others, to 
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do. In explaining what UAB had found in its investigation of Shuler's computer, Bonasera 

said he had been reading articles about the prosecution of former Alabama Governor Don 

Siegelman and former HealthSouth CEO Richard Scrushy. Bonasera made multiple 

references that UAB was concerned about Shuler's research regarding the Siegelman case. 

Shuler explained that the Siegelman case was the biggest story in Alabama at the time, 

Siegelman was former ex oficio president of the University ofAlabama Board of Trustees, 

Scrushy was UAB's most famous alumnus--and Shuler would have been neglecting his 

duties to not be keeping up with the case, which clearly could have generated future story 

ideas for various publications. Shuler tape recorded the conversation with Bonasera. 

49. On May 12,2008, five days after Shuler was placed on administrative leave-and the 

deadline for responding to the charges in writing to HR--the Shulers' house was auctioned in 

a sheriff's sale on the courthouse steps in Columbiana, Alabama. The unlawful auction 

allegedly was designed to collect a $1,525 judgment in the McGarity lawsuit, but the whole 

process dovetailed with Shuler's problems on the job at UAB-and with threats the Shulers 

had received from debt collectors (Pennsylvania-based NCO and Birmingham-based NCO) 

regarding a debt Roger Shuler allegedly owed to American Express (AMEX). On May 8, one 

day after he had been placed on administrative leave, Shuler received an anonymous 

comment on his blog, asking, "How is AMEX treating you?" 

50. On May 19, Shuler was called to a meeting with Dale Turnbough and Anita Bonasera and 

told that he was being terminated at UAB. Turnbough handed Shuler a termination letter that 

she had signed and listed more vague allegations about NWR and computer usage. The letter 

claimed that Shuler had violated university policy, but never said what those policies were. 
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51. Shuler filed a second grievance, this time contesting his firing-which took place even 

though Shuler already had a pending grievance against Powell (regarding the written 

warning), and it had never been heard. 

52. A VAB Problem Resolution Procedure (PRP) committee met on June 25, 2008, to hear 

Shuler's two grievances. The panel consisted of three fellow employees, with Bobby Barnes 

serving as moderator. Roger Shuler and Pam Powell gave statements and were present for the 

entire four-hour hearing. Other witnesses included Dale Turnbough, Janice Ward, and VAB 

information-technology staff member Sean Maher. 

53. On July 1,2008, Shuler met with Cheryl E.H. Locke, chief human resources officer, about 

the outcome of the grievance hearing. Anita Bonasera and Bobby Barnes, from Employee 

Relations, also attended the meeting. Locke told Shuler that the committee found he should 

not have been terminated. But she said he could return to work only ifhe accepted two 

written warnings in his file; moved to another unspecified job, in an unspecified department, 

under an unspecified supervisor; and agreed to quit blogging. VAB did not give Shuler any 

information in writing. Shuler said he needed time to discuss the proposal with his wife. 

54. About two days after the meeting, Shuler sent an e-mail to Locke stating that, since he did 

not receive anything in writing, he needed to confirm the elements of the proposaL Shuler 

said he understood it to include three provisos: (1) Shuler had to accept two written warnings 

in his personnel file; (2) Shuler had to move to an unspecified new position; (3) Shuler had to 

quit blogging. Locke agreed with the first two, but said on No.3 that Shuler no longer could 

write his blog at work. Shuler informed Locke that it had already been established in the 

grievance hearing, by VAB IT witness Sean Maher, that Shuler never had written his blog at 

work. Locke did not respond further. 
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55. At a subsequent meeting on July 10, Shuler informed Locke that he would not accept her 

proposal and gave her several reasons: (I) He had sat through the entire grievance hearing, 

and there was no evidence to support any discipline at all, much less two written warnings; 

(2) Under UAB policy, an employee who receives three written warnings in an I8-month 

period of time is automatically fired. Shuler said Locke's proposal appeared to be a bad-faith 

effort to lure him into being fired all over again-after he had signed away his rights 

regarding the unlawful actions already taken against him. Locke did not deny it. "If you got a 

third written warning, that would be up to your new supervisor," she said; (3) There was no 

justification for moving Shuler to another job. He said he would be able to work with Pam 

Powell again, and ifPowell had a problem working with him, then the university should 

move her. Locke said Powell would be disciplined as a result of her mishandling of Shuler's 

situation, but she did not say how. 

56. In a letter dated July 18, 2008, Locke informed Shuler that she was upholding his 

termination, against the recommendation of her own committee. 

57. Shuler filed a final appeal with UAB President Carol Garrison. In a letter dated August 19, 

2008, Garrison said that she, too, would go against the recommendation of her own 

committee and uphold Shuler's termination. On July 11,2008, the Web site Raw Story 

published an investigative article by Lindsay Beyerstein about Shuler's unlawful termination 

at UAB. The Chronicle ofHigher Education picked up on the Raw Story piece and ran a 

shorter article. In the wake of those stories, which Shuler wrote about on his blog, several 

individuals sent e-mails to Garrison, voicing their concern that an employee apparently had 

been fired for political reasons. Garrison, via public relations director Gary Mans, responded 

with the following statement: 
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"President Garrison asked that I respond to you. Contrary to Mr. Shuler's statements, his termination had nothing to 
do with politics or any conspiracy, and the university has not been contacted by any public official or representative 
of such about this matter. Mr. Shuler was dismissed based solely on his work performance. Because this is a 
personnel matter, we cannot comment further." 

58. The GarrisonlMans statement that Shuler was dismissed based solely on his work 

performance came after UAB's own committee had found that Shuler should not have 

been terminated at all. It also was published on The Chronicle a/Higher Education Web 

site. 

59. In February 2009, Shuler learned that a UAB employee named Ashla Jana' Campbell had 

used a university computer to send a racist poem, based on "The Night Before 

Christmas," about President Barack Obama and other prominent Democrats. Before 

publishing a post on the subject, Shuler contacted Campbell at her UAB office, told her 

about the information he had and asked if she would like to comment. She hung up on 

him. Since he was not able to give Campbell his contact information, Shuler waited until 

after work hours and left a message for Campbell, giving his phone number if she 

decided to change her mind about commenting. Shuler also contacted the office ofUAB 

President Carol Garrison and left a message seeking comment for his story. Garrison did 

not respond. Once Shuler's post ran, a man claiming to be Campbell's husband left a 

comment on Shuler's blog threatening physical violence. When Shuler reported this to 

the UAB Police Department, they told him that Ashla Jana' Campbell had already filled 

out a criminal incident report against him. When Shuler asked to see the report, he was 

told that UAB Police keep their records with the Birmingham Police Department. The 

Birmingham Police refused to release a copy of the incident report to Shuler. Calling a 

person and asking them to comment for an article is not a crime. Calling to leave a voice 
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message with your contact infonnation is not a crime. Based on infonnation and belief, 

the Binningham Police Department has caused an incident report to be generated that 

falsely claims Roger Shuler engaged in criminal activity. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 


COUNT ONE 


VIOLATION OF FIRST AMENDMENT 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983) 


60. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-59 above, as if set out in full herein. The Board of 

Trustees of the University of Alabama, and its defendant employees at UAB, violated the 

free speech clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

61. One ofthe university's own employees, Anita Bonasera, stated in a tape-recorded 

conversation that plaintiff was targeted for investigation and ultimately tennination 

because of his blog content about the Don Siegelman case. 

COUNT TWO 


FIRST AMENDMENT RETALIATION 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983) 
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62. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-61 above, as if set out in full herein. The university 

retaliated against Shuler for publishing constitutionally protected speech on matters of 

public concern. Shuler's speech was unconnected to his official duties. 

63. The university's unsubstantiated reasons for firing Shuler are pretext for its efforts to 

thwart protected speech regarding justice-related issues in Alabama. 

COUNT THREE 

FIRST AMENDMENT WRONGFUL TERMINATION 

(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983) 

64. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-63 above, as if set out in full herein. In its effort to 

thwart Shuler's free-speech rights, the university repeatedly violated its own policies, 

constituting wrongful termination. 

65. University policy, through the You & VAR Handbook, states that except in the instance of 

serious offenses (theft, fighting, drug use on the job, etc.) managers are to use progressive 

discipline-starting with oral warning and progressing, if necessary, to written warning 

and termination. In Shuler's case, the university ignored its own progressive-discipline 

policy and went straight to immediate termination-for an employee with a 19-year 

history at the institution. 

66. University policy, through the You & VAR Handbook, states that an employee is to use 

the internal grievance process without fear of reprisal. Shuler used the process to file a 

grievance against supervisor Pam Powell on or about April 23, 2008. It did not take long 
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for his reprisal to come. On May 7, he was placed on administrative leave; on May 19, he 

was terminated. 

67. All issues regarding the use ofUAB computers is governed by the university's acceptable 

use policy (AUP). The policy states that any concerns regarding an employee's use of 

UAB computer-related equipment is to be handled through progressive discipline-oral 

warning, written warning, termination. In Shuler's case, the university went straight to 

termination, violating its own policy. 

COUNT FOUR 

CONSPIRACY TO INTERFERE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS 

(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1985[3]) 

68. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-67 above, as if set out in full herein. 

69. Based on information and belief, the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and 

UAB defendants conspired to deprive Shuler of his constitutional rights-including free

speech rights under the First Amendment and equal protection of federal civil-rights laws 

and Alabama state law. 

70. Said conspiracy was conducted maliciously, willfully, and with reckless disregard for 

Shuler's constitutional rights. Based on information and belief, this conspiracy included 

individuals who are outside the university, and the identity of these persons is not known 

at this time. Shuler expects their identity to be revealed in the discovery process. 

71. Shuler now is suffering, and will continue to suffer irreparable injury from defendants' 

unlawful conspiracy. 
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COUNT FIVE 


ACTION FOR NEGLECT TO PREVENT 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1986) 


72. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-71 above, as if set out in full herein. 

73. Based on information and belief, the Board of Trustees of the University ofAlabama and 

UAB defendants knew of a conspiracy to interfere with Shuler's civil rights and failed to 

prevent it. 

74. Shuler now is suffering, and will continue to suffer irreparable injury from defendants' 

failure to prevent said conspiracy. 

COUNT SIX 


AGE DISCRIMINATION 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983, THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN 


EMPLOYMENT ACT-ADEA, AND EX PARTE YOUNG) 


75. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-74 above, as if set out in full herein. 

76. In taking the above-described actions, UAB defendants intentionally and willfully 

discriminated against plaintiff due to his age (51), in violation of 1983 and ADEA. 

77. Defendants' actions were taken with malice or reckless indifference to the federally 

protected rights ofplaintiff. 
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78. As a proximate consequence of these violations by defendants, plaintiff has suffered and 

will continue to suffer damage to his professional life and future career opportunities, 

future pecuniary losses, emotional pain, inconvenience, mental anguish, loss of 

enjoyment of life, and non-pecuniary damages. 

79. Defendants Garrison, Kahn, Turnbough, Powell, Mans, Locke, and Bonasera are not 

afforded immunity protection because a reasonable official in each of their respective 

positions would have known that his/her actions would violate a constitutional right that 

was "clearly established" at the time of the violations described herein. 

COUNT SIX 


AGE DISCRIMINATION RETALIATION 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983, THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN 


EMPLOYMENT ACT-ADEA, AND EX PARTE YOUNG) 


80. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-79 above, as if set out in full herein. 

81. DAB defendants retaliated against Shuler for bringing his concerns about age 

discrimination to both Pam Powell and Dale Tumbouglr-and for filing a formal 

grievance against Powell. 

COUNT SEVEN 


AGE DISCRIMINATION WRONGFUL TERMINATION 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983, THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN 


EMPLOYMENT ACT-ADEA. AND EX PARTE YOUNG) 
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82. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-81 above, as if set out in full herein. 

83. UAB defendants wrongfully terminated Shuler based on age discrimination by repeatedly 

failing to follow their own established policies. 

COUNT EIGHT 


GENDER DISCRIMINATION 


(ASSERTED VIA 42 U.S. CODE 1983) 


84. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-83 above, as if set out in full herein. 

85. In taking the above-described actions, UAB defendants intentionally and willfully 

discriminated against plaintiff due to his gender, in violation of 1983. 

86. Defendants' actions were taken with malice or reckless indifference to the federally 

protected rights of plaintiff. 

87. As a proximate consequence of these violations by defendants, plaintiff has suffered and 

will continue to suffer damage to his professional life and future career opportunities, 

future pecuniary losses, emotional pain, inconvenience, mental anguish, loss of 

enjoyment of life, and non-pecuniary damages. 

88. Defendants Garrison, Kahn, Turnbough, Powell, Mans, Locke, and Bonasera are not 

afforded immunity protection because a reasonable official in each of their respective 

positions would have known that hislher actions would violate a constitutional right that 

was "clearly established" at the time of the violations described herein. 
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COUNT NINE 


DEFAMATION 


(ASSERTED VIA ALABAMA STATE LAW) 


89. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-88 above, as if set out in full herein. 

90. Defendants Garrison, Mans, and the Birmingham Police Department caused false 

statements to be published about Shuler, causing damage to his reputation. 

91. Defendants maliciously and willfully caused defamatory statements to be published about 

Shuler. 

92. As a result of defendants' unlawful actions, Shuler has suffered mental anguish and 

suffering, as well as impairment of reputation and standing in the community, and 

personal humiliation. 

93. Defendants acted with malice, knowing the statements in question were false, and this 

entitles Shuler to punitive damages for the pain and suffering he has experienced due to 

the publication ofdefamatory material about him. 

COUNT TEN 


TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 


(ASSERTED VIA ALABAMA STATE LAW) 


94. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-93 above, as if set out in full herein. 
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95. Plaintiff's employment, trade, or calling is a property right, and wrongful interference 

therewith is actionable. 

96. The fact that the employment is at the will of the employer and employee does not make 

it one at the will of third parties. 

97. Based on information and belief, third parties interfered with plaintiff's employment 

relationship with UAB. 

98. Plaintiff is unable to identify said third parties at this time, but expects their names to be 

revealed during the discovery process. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Roger Shuler requests of this Court the following monetary and 

equitable relief against defendants: 

A. A declaratory judgment holding that actions of the Defendants described herein 

violated the Plaintiffs' rights as secured by Title VII, the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the Constitution of the United States, and by Alabama state law. 

B. 	 A permanent injunction enjoining the Defendants, their agents, successors, 

employees, attorneys, and those acting in concert with the defendants at the 

defendants request from continuing to violate Title VII, the Equal Protection Clause 

of the Fourteenth Amendment, and Alabama state law. 

C. 	 An order of compensatory and punitive damages. 

D. 	An order to make the Plaintiff whole by requiring the Defendants to instate him into 

the position(s) he would have occupied in the absence of discrimination, retaliation, 
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wrongful tennination, conspiracy, and state-law violations set out above-with the 

same seniority, leave and other benefits ofthe position (or front pay), back pay (with 

interest), compensatory damages for emotional distress, and/or nominal damages. 

Plaintiff also seeks punitive damages against Defendants Garrison, Kahn, Turnbough, 

Powell, Mans, Locke, and Bonasera. 

E. 	 Such other relief and benefits as the cause ofjustice may require, including, but not 

limited to, an award of costs, attorney fees, and expenses. 

Respectfully submitted, this r\f0. day of ~ ,2010. 

Roger Shuler, Pro Se 

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY STRUCK JURY ON ALL ISSUES TRIABLE BY 

A JURY UNDER FEDERAL LA W 

Roger Shuler 
5204 Logan Drive 
Birmingham, Alabama 35242 

STATEMENT OF VERIFICATION 

I have read the above complaint and it is correct to the best ofmy knowledge. 

Case 2:10-cv-01271-WMA   Document 1   Filed 05/17/10   Page 26 of 26


